Does Exposure to Contingent Video-Game Tasks Influence Illusory Control on Non-

Contingent Tasks?

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the Honours Degree of the Bachelor of

Psychological Science

School of Psychology University of Adelaide

October 2017

Word Count: 10,207

Table of Contents

Table of Contents i
List of Figures iv
List of Tables v
Abstract vi
Declaration vii
Acknowledgements viii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Contingency learning 1
1.1.1 Situational Factors Influencing the Illusion of Control 2
1.1.2 Individual Differences Influencing the Illusion of Control
1.2 The Role of the Illusion of Control in Gambling7
1.3 Skilled Tasks: The Example of Video Gaming
1.4 The Current Study 14
1.5 Hypotheses 15
Chapter 2: Method 17
2.1 Participants 17
2.2 Sampling Procedure 17
2.3 Study Design 18
2.3.1 Software
2.4 Survey Measures
2.4.1 Demographics and Video Game Experience

2.4.2 Drake Beliefs About Chance Inventory (DBC)	20
2.4.3 Problem Gambling Severity Index	21
2.5 Outcome Measures	21
2.5.1 Dissimilar Illusory Control Task: Light Onset Task	21
2.5.2 Similar Illusory Control Task: Submarine Task	23
2.6 Procedure	25
2.6.1 Information and Consent	25
2.6.2 Questionnaire, Priming and Illusory Control Tasks	25
Chapter 3: Results	27
3.1 Analytical Procedures	27
3.2 Descriptive Statistics	28
3.2.1 Video Game Self-Reported Measures	28
3.2.2 Beliefs about Chance and Gambling Severity	28
3.2.3 Outcome Measures	29
3.3 Two-Way Factorial ANOVA	31
3.4 Correlation Analysis	33
3.5 Exploratory Analyses	36
3.5.1 Independent Samples <i>T</i> -tests	36
Chapter 4: Discussion	37
4.1 Overview of the Current Study	37
4.2 Detailed Analysis of Main Findings	38
4.2.1 Illusion of Control	38
4.2.2 Virtual Gambling Behaviours	39

4.3 Implications and Future Directions 40
4.4 Strengths and Limitations of the Current Study 41
4.5 Conclusions
References
Appendix A: Advertising Material 58
Appendix B: Demographic and Video Game Experience/Ability Measures
Appendix C: Drake Beliefs about Chance Inventory61
Appendix D: Problem Gambling Severity Index63
Appendix E: Instructions, Stimuli, Win Sequence and Post-Task Items for the
Dissimilar Illusory Control Task 64
Appendix F: Instructions, Stimuli, Win Sequence and Post-Task Items for the
Similar Illusory Control Task 68
Appendix G: Study Information Sheet72
Appendix H: Study Consent Form 74
Appendix I: Gambling Debrief 75

List of Figures

Figure 1. Sea Wolf gameplay	19
<i>Figure 2</i> . Dissimilar illusory control task	22
<i>Figure 3</i> . Similar illusory control task	24
<i>Figure 4.</i> Mean perceived control in the four experimental conditions. $(N = 64)$	31
Figure 5. Mean investment percentage in the four experimental conditions. $(N = 64)$	33

List of Tables

Table 1. Mean and (SD) of perceived control and connection in the 4 experimental conditions

$(N = 64) \dots 30$
Table 2. Mean and (SD) of average wager and investment percentage in the 4 experimental
conditions ($N = 64$)
Table 3. Pearson's correlations between study variables of interest

Abstract

In recent years, research has focused on how video game participation may associate itself with problematic gambling cognition and behaviour. Research has considered whether video games, which are skilled tasks, may cause players to generalise an illusion of control to chance gambling tasks. However, this effect has not been investigated experimentally. The current study examines whether exposure to contingent or skilled tasks (in this case, a skilled video game) influences perceptions of skill and control on subsequent non-contingent tasks as compared with a control group. Participants (N = 64) were divided into 2 pre-test conditions (skilled video game task vs. control) x 2 non-contingent test tasks (similar vs. dissimilar to the skilled task). A 2x2 factorial ANOVA was used to determine the effect of conditions and tasks on variables of illusory control and hypothetical wagering. The results showed that exposure to a video game task did not increase illusory control and wager size. The chance task's similarity to a video game also had no effect on illusory control, but did increase wager size. Consistent with previous literature, there was no association between self-reported video game playing frequency and illusory control or wager size. The findings are discussed in the context of future contingency learning research and interventions for problem gambling.

Declaration

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any University, and, to the best of my knowledge, this thesis contains no materials previously published except where due reference is made. I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University Library, be available for loan and photocopying. I give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the School to restrict access for a period of time.

XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX

October 2017

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements have been omitted for this de-identified PDF.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Contingency learning and the illusion of control

As a species, our survival frequently depends on assessing whether contingent relationships exist between events and our behaviour. Contingency learning is a key component of classical and operant conditioning theories, and refers to our ability to understand the relationship between actions and outcomes. According to this perspective, we adapt to the environment around us by learning when a particular response is necessary or unnecessary. Effective learning means that we learn to withhold responses when the probability of an outcome (O) given a response (R) (i.e., P(O/R)) is zero or lower than the probability of receiving a reward for not making a response (i.e., P(O/No R)). Such learning allows animals and humans to avoid expenditure of effort in unrewarding activities and, in theory, is thought to protect them from becoming overly involved in activities that are unlikely to yield long-term productive returns. For instance, if a flu tablet does not affect the recovery process, we are unlikely to keep ingesting it. Similarly, we are unlikely to keep pestering an employer for a pay rise if they have consistently refused such requests in the past.

Although a number of studies have shown that people are generally efficient at detecting differences in objective contingency in some situations (Wasserman, Elek, Chatlosh, & Baker, 1993; Alloy & Abramson, 1979), there is also evidence that humans can be prone to erroneous perceptions about the links between behaviour and outcomes. Such was the view of Langer (1975) who argued that people are prone to what she termed the 'illusion of control'. The illusion

of control is defined as a perception of control greater than what the situation truly warrants. In effect, people believe that their actions can affect outcomes more than is objectively the case. Langer (1975) argued that this effect arises because people are inherently motivated to seek control over their environments and have a tendency, borne out of ego-protective motivations, to perceive connections between actions and outcomes. Rather than perceive unpredictability that is difficult to manage, a belief in influence over environment was considered to be critical for human esteem.

In the review to follow, it will be argued that the illusion of control is a cognitive bias influenced by situational and individual difference variables, and possibly an interaction between both. It will be reasoned that the illusion of control can have detrimental consequences for individuals, particularly in relation to risk-taking activities such as gambling, where people may over-estimate their ability to achieve success. These arguments then form the basis for an investigation examining perceptions of control in relation to video games, which have come to be increasingly associated and entwined with gambling activities. This project examines the extent to which engagement in these skilled activities may influence people's perceptions of chance-based gambling activities through the process of generalisation.

1.1.1 Situational factors influencing the illusion of control

There are a number of important situational factors thought to increase people's susceptibility to the illusion of control. Langer (1975) asserted that the illusion arises when people confuse situations involving chance and skill. She argued that the effect could be demonstrated by examining what occurs when certain characteristics, typically associated with skilled tasks, are introduced into chance-determined tasks. In Langer's experiments, these skill

factors included: an opportunity for competition; physical involvement; stimulus familiarity; opportunity for practice; opportunity for choice; and time spent thinking about actions and outcomes. Each of these was introduced in separate studies. For example, the effects of competition were demonstrated by showing that people typically placed larger wagers in a betting game pitted against a less confident opponent. Another study indicated that people, given opportunities to choose their lottery ticket, typically valued this ticket more than those who were given theirs at random. Another showed that practice or familiarity with tasks also increased perceptions of control. Because these elements are usually indicative of a skilled task, participants subconsciously undertook a bottom-up analysis of the task - because the task contained skill elements, its outcome must, therefore, be somewhat determined by skill.

A particular experiment from Langer (1975) - worth noting in more detail because of its relevance to the present project - involved manipulating participants' degree of familiarity with a stimulus. In Langer's experiment, participants needed to move a stylus along a series of interconnected paths in the hope of triggering a buzzer. In fact, the buzzer outcome was uncontrollable. Prior to the task's initiation, participants were either told to familiarise themselves with the task, without rewards or consequence, or not given this opportunity. Participants with this prior exposure to the task had increased belief in their control over the outcome before the task's initiation, and were more likely to compare their performance to that of a chess master once the task was completed.

Furthermore, participants placed in a condition in this experiment where they themselves moved the stylus (i.e. had physical involvement) were more likely to evaluate their performance as successful than those not given this opportunity. This study, as with others of Langer's, has been questioned by other researchers who argued that the accompanying denial of choice in the no-involvement condition might have been the true source of the effects observed (i.e., higher ratings of control). However, due to the difficulty of separating choice and physical involvement, subsequent studies have replicated the effect in the same manner as Langer (Ladouceur & Mayrand, 1987; Yarritu, Matute & Vadillo, 2014).

Langer also conducted research showing that sequence effects and emphasis on success or failure can influence the illusion of control (Langer & Roth, 1975). In that study, participants were pre-set to experience the same number of successful coin toss predictions. However, success was concentrated at particular times in the task for particular groups within the sample. Those who received feedback on early success in the task were found to perceive their skill as greater, and also predict more future success. Concentrating success at the beginning of a task (known as a descending success-slope) has been found to elicit a stronger illusion of control than at the end of a task (an ascending success-slope), which also elicits more than in a task with evenly distributed success grouping (a flat success-slope). (Jenkins & Ward, 1965; Alloy & Abramson, 1979; Orgaz et al., 2013). As Ejova, Navarro and Delfabbro (2013) conjectured, this may be due to the fact that perceptions of control are influenced by people's memory for successful outcomes such that people are more likely to remember wins that occur early or late in a sequence due to the well documented primacy and recency effects in memory research. Other illusion of control studies have also found that participants made more successful assessments of contingency when focusing on their level of control. In an "analytic" condition, where participants were instructed to assess how much control they had over an outcome, judgements of contingency were far greater than in a naturalistic condition (where participants were instead simply instructed to obtain a positive outcome) (Matute, 1996).

1.1.2 Individual differences influencing the illusion of control

There is related evidence that a number of individual difference variables may influence people's susceptibility to the illusion of control. Some of the most frequently researched examples include the need for outcome; personal affect; locus of control; desirability of control; and superstition and precognition.

A higher need for outcome has been found to be positively associated with the illusion of control. For example, Biner et al. (1995) conducted a study in which participants undertook a contingency task with hamburgers as their reward for successful performance. One group had breakfast beforehand, whereas the other did not. The results showed that the hungrier participants perceived greater levels of skill and control in a chance-based task than the other group, who presumably had a weaker desire for the outcome.

The role of affect in relation to the illusion of control has also been investigated. Studies show that depressed participants typically make more accurate contingency judgements than non-depressed participants in chance-based tasks (Alloy & Abramson, 1979; Martin, Abramson, & Alloy, 1979). This phenomenon is usually explained with reference to the concept of "depressive realism" and can be observed in comparisons of depressed and non-depressed individuals and also in studies involving the induction of temporary mood states (Alloy, Abramson & Viscusi, 1981). Anxiety, on the other hand, has been associated with a preference for greater physical involvement in an illusory control task (Friendland, Keinan & Regev, 1992), with anxious individuals thought to be more likely to be motivated to restore feelings of control.

Desirability of control, operationalised in a construct created by Burger and Cooper (1979), has been positively associated with the illusion of control in chance-based tasks. In other words, those who are more motivated to seek control may be more likely to perceive contingency. In a similar vein, it has been argued that locus of control might be associated with a greater susceptibility to the illusion, although the results for this measure have been inconsistent. While an internal locus of control (being more inclined to believing outcomes are under personal control) has been found in some literature to be positively associated with the illusion of control (Strickland, Lewicki & Katz, 1966), some have found it to be negatively associated (Hong & Chiu, 1988) or have an insignificant relationship (Benassi, Sweeney & Drevno, 1979). This may be because an external orientation of control may not necessarily relate to its relinquishment. Rothbaum, Weisz and Snyder (1982) argue that the illusion of control probably comprises two components: primary and secondary control. Primary control refers to the use of strategies and skill, and might reasonably be expected to relate to more internal locus of control. Secondary control, on the other hand, which relates to attempts to align oneself with external forces, such as luck or God, might also be associated with an illusion of control if such factors are the principle perceived source of influence over outcomes (Weisz & Snyder, 1982).

In line with this view, superstition and erroneous beliefs about chance have demonstrated positive relationships with an illusion of control (Rudski, 2004). A belief in luck construct developed by Darke and Freeman (1997) has a typically strong positive correlation with an illusion of control, seemingly regardless of whether participants believe they are holders of good or bad luck (Wohl & Enzle, 2002; Darke & Freedman, 1997). Furthermore, the practicing of erroneous rituals before or during a task is associated with perceived control (Legare & Souza, 2013).

1.2 The Role of the Illusion of Control in Gambling

Problem (or pathological) gambling is a recognised disorder in the DSM-V (American Psychiatric Association, 2010), defined as an episodic or persistent display of problematic gambling behaviours leading to "clinically significant impairment or distress". Gambling disorder can be characterised by gambling with increasing amounts of money, unsuccessful efforts to control gambling, chasing losses, and jeopardising elements of one's personal life (American Psychiatric Association, 2010). In Australia, the social cost of problem gambling is significant: \$4.7 billion is lost each year, along with subsequent associations with suicide, mental illness, unemployment, and crime (Productivity Commission, 2010; Delfabbro, 2010).

There is considerable evidence that problem gambling may be influenced by an illusion of control. As identified by Raylu and Oei (2004), most gambling literature indicates that there are two main cognitive biases typical of a problem gambler: the perceived ability to directly or indirectly influence the outcome of a task, or the sustained belief that they can correctly predict outcomes. Attempts to control one's environment, and subsequently overestimate chances of winning, are also shown to be the result of perceiving a chance gambling task as possessing contingent elements (Reid, 1986). People may also develop an illusion of control in tasks where there is some genuine, but small, element of contingency, such as predicting the outcome of sporting matches or poker games (Toneatto et al., 1997). There are also individual difference variables that appear to be related to people's tendency to overestimation the degree of contingency. Examples including people's level of stress (Friedland, Keinan, & Regev, 1992); alcohol consumption (Baron & Dickerson, 1999); or the level of negative affect (Dickerson, 1993). Stress and alcohol consumption may increase attempts to perceive or seek control,

whereas negative mood can be associated with reduced perceptions of contingency (Alloy & Abamson, 1979).

Attempting to explain the association, White (1989) argued that this 'learning' of an illusion of control occurs in gambling tasks because players have to spend time orienting themselves to the game's structure, rules and outcomes. As a result, this orientation and familiarity are mistaken for an acquisition of skill, and an illusion of control is elicited. In his review of the literature, Toneatto (1999) suggested that illusory control "cooperates" with erroneous beliefs about the nature of luck, and regular gamblers may have stronger beliefs about how luck may be controllable, contagious, or reflective of a personal trait. Evidence suggests that there is a positive association between the illusion of control and problem gambling behaviour in both Western and Eastern cultures (Orgaz, Estévez, & Matute, 2013; Myrseth, Brunborg & Eidem, 2010; Toneatto et al., 1997; Emond & Marmurek, 2010; Hong & Chiu, 1988; Subramaniam, Chong, Browning & Thomas 2017; Perales et al., 2017). Barrault and Varescon (2013) also concluded that the illusion of control functioned as a reliable predictor for pathological gambling, and that it may develop and maintain problem gambling behaviour.

In light of this evidence, interventions for problem gambling (e.g., cognitive therapy) recognise the illusion of control as a factor that should be considered in designing treatments. Consistent with Raylu and Oei (2004), interventions consider the illusion of control as one of two core cognitive errors surrounding problem gambling, and tailor therapies to remove its influence. Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT), the most popular method of treatment for problem gambling (Cowlishaw et al., 2012), focuses on a cognitive restructuring process that encourages clients to examine erroneous beliefs about control and distance themselves from

them (Chrétien et al., 2017). Common techniques within CBT include: clients listening to themselves 'thinking aloud' their erroneous beliefs about control (Freidenberg, Blanchard, Wulfert, & Malta, 2002); completing written exercises and readings about the realities of probability (Castren et al., 2013); and participating in virtual reality gambling tasks (Giroux et al., 2013). These interventions have been systematically validated as effective techniques to decrease problematic gambling thoughts and behaviours (Chrétien et al., 2017; Ladouceur et al., 1998), albeit with methodological deficiencies in treating gamblers who engage in more skilloriented games such as poker or blackjack (Chrétien et al., 2017).

1.3 Skilled Tasks: The Example of Video Gaming

Unlike chance-based gambling, video games feature a high degree of skill. Because of this, players have a reasonable expectation of contingency. Video games have become extremely popular and pervasive over the last four decades. Indeed, within Australia, video games have reached universal availability across a range of consoles and modalities, and national usage rates reflect this prevalence. According to a 2015 report on Australian video game usage, 68% of Australians play video games, and a video game can be found in 98% of homes with at least one child (Brand & Todhunter, 2015). Furthermore, the national industry observed a 20% growth in 2014 (Brand & Todhunter, 2015) and total revenue exceeded \$89 million (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2017). An important trend for the current study is that recent advances have fostered an increasing technological link between video games and gambling. For example, advanced gambling games can be played using video-game consoles; gambling games may feature in larger role-playing games; people can play social casino games on electronic devices such as iPads and iPhones; some gaming machines can have bonus features which resemble video

games; and people can now gamble on the outcomes of video game tournaments (King, Delfabbro & Griffiths, 2010). Because of this convergence, the separation between video gaming and gambling has become less distinct. Furthermore, their accessibility in conjunction has become an ingrained part of both industries (King et al., 2010).

Research shows that some demographic groups engage with video games more than others. Although the gaming population has diversified beyond the stereotype of a young male (Delfabbro, King, Lambos & Puglies, 2009), young Australian boys and men are certainly more likely to participate than any other demographic profile. While 75% of Australians under 35 years of age regularly play, only 47% of those over 35 do the same (Brand and Todhunter, 2015). In particular, children and adolescents play games at a much higher rate than any other age group - 88% of 5-24 year olds are reported to regularly engage in some form (Brand & Todhunter, 2015). A slightly higher proportion of the Australian gaming population remains male (53%) (Brand & Todhunter, 2015), but the gender imbalance has steadily weakened, with the female proportion of video gamers rising from its 38% mark in 2005 (Brand & Todhunter, 2015).

There have been many studies into the psychological effects of video gaming on players. While some have reported benefits in player visual perceptual abilities (Deveau, Lovcik, & Seitz, 2014); task switching (Karle, Watter, & Shedden, 2010), problem-solving skills (Yang, 2012); and memory and executive functions (Martinovic et al., 2014), there are also studies purporting negative consequences. Video game playing has been found to be positively associated with impulsive behaviour and poor planning (Bargeron & Homes, 2017), reward insensitivity (Duven, Müller, Beutal & Wolfling, 2015), and poorer academic performance (Sahin, Gumus, & Dincel, 2014). Importantly, and of particular relevance to this thesis project, is that studies have also examined the relationship between video game playing and the illusion of control. A question has been raised as to whether playing video games, that inherently feature a high degree of personal control over situational outcomes, could lead to a misattribution of control in subsequent chance-based tasks that bear similar structural elements (Gupta & Derevensky, 1996; King, Ejova & Delfabbro, 2012). Langer (1975) asserted that an illusion of control may be learned from surrounding stimuli and cues, so that an inappropriately generalised illusion of control may be learned and transferred after exposure to skill-based video games. Furthermore, they may also encourage the misconception that players can practice and 'master' a chance task, as players can in a standard video game.

This link between illusory control and video gaming has now become a focus of attention in the gambling literature. In a study involving participants who regularly played video games or gambled, King et al. (2012) tested illusory control on a gambling task in the two groups, while also measuring how frequently video game players gambled and vice versa. For the regular video game players (who played around twenty hours per week), perception of direct and superstitious control over the outcome was significantly lower than that in a normal comparison sample from Ejova, Delfabbro and Navarro (2010). However, in the sample of regular gamblers (who played on electronic gaming machines at least once per week), video game playing hours had a significant positive association with illusion of control (once controlling for problem gambling and demographic factors). Furthermore, these regular gamblers had a high level of agreement with the statement "My experience at video games helped me win". So while more regular video game players may not transfer an illusion of control from their medium of choice, video game play may influence illusory control in community members interested in gambling.

Some researchers argue that potential associations between video gaming and gambling follow a developmental model (Brown, 1989; Fisher & Griffiths, 1995). Gupta and Derevensky (1996) argued that the experience of video game learning could influence young people's approach to gambling task orientation. Although most gambling games are not as influenced by player practice and skill acquisition as video games, a false comparison may be made, and the player could believe that over time they can influence a gambling task in the same way they learned to control video games through experience (Gupta & Derevensky, 1996). As a result, there have been several studies of the overlap between video games and gambling in studies of young people. In one study, Gupta and Derevensky (1996) were able to identify that high frequency video game players (aged between 9 and 14) were more likely than lower frequency video game players to be "at risk" for problem gambling, wager more in a gambling task, and be more likely to perceive that some skill was involved with gambling. However, the age range of the participants and outdated conceptions of high and low frequency video game playing significantly hindered the study's ability to be generalised to a wider, more contemporary population. In a subsequent study from Wood, Gupta, Derevensky and Griffiths (2004) adolescent problem gamblers (aged 10-17) were significantly more likely to frequently play video games, or play video games at an excessive rate. Studies of this age group, across cultures, have similarly found that rates of adolescent gambling, along with positive appraisals of gambling, are positively correlated with video game playing (Calado, Alexandre, & Griffiths, 2014; McBride & Derevensky, 2016; Fu & Yu, 2015).

Another important reason to suspect potential transfer effects relating to perceptions of skill is that there are many structural similarities between video gaming and gambling. Discussions of this topic first emerged in the studies of Mark Griffiths in the UK, who examined the relationship between arcade video games and "fruit machines". Fruit machines are British gambling devices (using video poker media) with a low-stakes monetary reward system (Griffiths, 1991a). Because of their availability to British youths under the age of 18, and their strategic placement in traditional video game arcades, Griffiths hypothesised that there would be a significant correlation between video gaming and fruit machine play (Griffiths, 1991b; Griffiths, 1993). Griffiths indeed found links between arcade video game playing and fruit machine playing: 68% of fruit machine players surveyed also participated in arcade games (Griffiths, 1990). While this was primarily attributed to the strategic placement of fruit machines in video game venues (Griffiths, 1990), it was substantiated that structural characteristics unique to the fruit machine experience provided an unwarranted perception of control (Griffiths, 1993; Parker & Griffiths, 2006).

However, it is important to recognise that not all researchers necessarily agree that video games and gambling are related. Indeed, Wood, Griffiths, Chappell and Davies (2004) argued that modern improvements to video games in areas of graphics, gameplay and realism allow clear separation between video games and gambling, which perhaps negate some of the earlier arguments concerning structural similarities. Forrest et al. (2016) also subscribed to the view that ongoing structural changes in video gaming may further differentiate the activities. Furthermore, in a recent Australian study, Forrest, King and Delfabbro (2016) found that, while gaming addiction scores correlated with gambling frequency, age was the only significant predictor of gambling when controlling for all other variables. King et al. (2012) also found that regular video gamers regarded participating in a chance gambling task less enjoyable than a control sample, and were less likely to attribute wins to their own skill.

Much of the literature's evidence, however, arises from correlation studies that have examined co-involvement in the two classes of activity rather than investigating the potential for actual transfer effects in experimental contexts. Although some insights can be gained by comparing the susceptibility to the illusion of control in people who engage in gambling, video gaming and both activities, there may be other variables that explain the differences observed. A stronger test of the idea therefore is to examine whether differential exposure to a skilled video game task (with contingent outcomes) can influence illusory control and wager size in a chance task (with non-contingent outcomes) as compared with individuals who do not have this exposure.

1.4 The Current Study

Accordingly, the current study reports the findings of a laboratory-based experiment that examined participant performance on chance-determined (non-contingent) tasks after exposure to a skilled video-game task (as compared with no such exposure). In this experiment, participants played a skilled video game. They were then asked to rate the amount of control exerted in a subsequent chance task and to virtually wager on how confident they were to obtain a certain criterion level of performance. One of Langer's (1975) early experiments showed that perceived control and confidence increased significantly when prior exposure to task stimuli was given. In this study, prior exposure to a contingent task (as a means of similarly orienting participants' feelings of control) was predicted to increase perceived control and wager size in a chance task. Learned helplessness research has also demonstrated that non-contingency, once learned, can be generalised to a situation with contingency introduced (Seligman, 1972). It was

predicted that this generalisation of learning will be applicable for the illusion of control; that is, once learned, contingency will be generalised to a non-contingent situation.

In addition to this basic manipulation, the current study investigated whether this effect on the illusion of control would be stronger if the task were more similar in content to the original pre-test skilled task. Studies in learned helplessness have found that perceptions of noncontingency are more strongly generalised to subsequent tasks that are similar in type (Tiggemann & Winefield, 1978). It was reasoned that a similar principle of generalisation would apply to illusion of control effects, as well as increase wager size. It was also reasoned that video game elements could act as a situational skill cue similar to those presented by Langer (1975), as they are superficial indicators of a contingent task.

Given a previous positive association found in regular gamblers (King et al. 2012), the current study examined correlations between frequency of video game play and the illusion of control. However, regular video gamers in King et al. (2012) had no significant association between hours played and illusory control or gambling behaviours. Similarly, the regular gamblers themselves had a non-significant relationship between hours played and gambling behaviours. It was therefore predicted that a general sample would share these non-significant associations with the illusion of control and wager size.

Measures assessing beliefs about chance and problem gambling severity were also taken as control variables to acknowledge the role that these individual differences can play in eliciting an illusion of control.

1.5 Hypotheses

1. Participants exposed to the video game task prior to either of the two illusory control tasks will perceive greater illusory control and will risk larger wagers than participants not exposed to the video game task.

2. Due to generalisation effects, participants undertaking the illusory control task with a similar theme to the pre-test video game task will perceive greater illusory control and risk larger wagers than participants in the dissimilar illusory control task (which does not have a common theme, nor a superficial resemblance to a video game).

3. Hours of video games played per week (measured through self-report) will have nonsignificant associations with illusory control scores and wager size.

Chapter 2

Method

2.1 Participants

The sample comprised 64 participants (48 male, 16 female) aged 18 to 58 years (M = 22.3, SD = 6.6). This included 12 first-year psychology students (18.8%) participating for course credit. To comply with ethical requirements, participants had to be aged 18 years and over, and not currently be receiving treatment for gambling-related problems. Most participants (N = 57, 89.1%) were born in Australia. 3 (4.7%) participants reported working full-time, 6 (9.4%) part-time, 41 (64.1%) casually, and 13 (20.3%) reported not being in paid work. One participant also reported being self-employed. No participants reported not completing high school, 51 (79.7%) listed high school as their highest level of completed education, 3 (4.7%) had completed a certificate or diploma, and 10 (15.7%) had completed a bachelor degree or higher.

2.2 Sampling Procedure

Participants from the community were recruited through advertising posted in the North Terrace campus of the University of Adelaide, and via social media site Facebook. (Appendix A contains the advertising used in both print and Internet settings). All community members were entered into a draw to win one \$50 JB Hi-Fi voucher as reimbursement for their time. Undergraduate psychology students were recruited from the Experimental Management System (EMS) from the School of Psychology, and received one course credit for up to 45 minutes of participation. The study was available to community and student groups from Friday 19th May, 2017 to Thursday 31st August, 2017.

2.3 Study Design

The study was completed on campus in an experimental laboratory at the University of Adelaide. Participants completed pen and paper assessments that measured basic demographic information; beliefs about chance; problem gambling severity; and video game playing frequency, perceived ability, and genre preference. After completing these measures, participants were allocated to experimental groups based upon a 2 Condition x 2 Task between groups ANOVA design. Half of the study's participants (allocated into the priming condition) played a video game task for fifteen minutes, whereas the others did not (the control condition). All participants completed one of two illusory control tasks (measuring virtual gambling behaviour) and then answered questions about their perceived control over the illusory control task and the connections between their behaviours and the task's outcomes. One of these illusory control tasks (completed by half of the participants in each condition) was dissimilar in content to the pre-test task, and the other was similar in content (completed by the remaining half of participants in each condition). Thus, there were effectively four groups of equal size: (1) no priming, dissimilar task; (2) no priming, similar task; (3) priming, dissimilar task; (4) priming, similar task. The Human Research Ethics Subcommittee in the University of Adelaide's School of Psychology approved the study design and procedure (approval number 17/33).

2.3.1 Software

Multiple Arcade Machine Emulator (MAME) software was used to emulate the video game (*Sea Wolf*) used in the priming condition. No participant data was stored on this software. Visual Studio Version 10 software was used for both of the illusory control tasks, which recorded participant wagering data during task completion. As the software did not have the

capability to store this wagering data after closing the task window, both tasks had their data stored via a separate Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

Sea Wolf is a 1976 arcade game that originally operated on arcade machines in a pay-forplay format. In this iteration in MAME software, players (positioned as a ship on the screen's baseline) use the space bar to vertically fire torpedoes at ships dashing horizontally across the screen. (See Figure 2.1) Using the left and right arrow keys, players can also adjust their own ship's position for strategic purposes. Points are accrued for hitting ships, with hits on faster ships earning players more points. The game terminates by players running out of 'fuel', which depletes as players move their ship across the baseline. The game ends with a "GAME OVER" message, after which participants in the study were permitted to hit the space bar to start a new game.



Figure 1. Sea Wolf gameplay. Displays target ship (top center), mid-flight torpedo (vertical dash, middle right), time remaining (bottom center), and progressive score (bottom right).

Participants completed all tasks on one of the laboratory's two computers, both of which ran on Windows Vista.

2.4 Survey Measures

2.4.1 Demographics and Video Game Experience

Participants were asked questions that requested demographic information such as their age, sex, education, employment, and country of birth (See Appendix B for full item list). Video game playing frequency was also assessed, with participants reporting how many hours of video games they played in a typical week in the last 12 months. Participants also indicated their hours of video games played in a typical week in the last twelve months, their perceived video game ability relative to the rest of the population, and preferred video game genre.

2.4.2 Drake Beliefs About Chance Inventory (DBC)

This inventory developed by Wood and Clapham (2005) is a 22-item self-report measure used to quantify erroneous beliefs held about chance. Questions include "It is good advice to stay with the same pair of dice on a winning streak", and "I have a special system for lottery numbers". The inventory has two dimensions (illusory control and superstition), assessed by 11 items each. All items are measured on a scale of 0 (*strongly agree*) to 5 (*strongly disagree*). (See Appendix C for full item list). Item 11 ("I do not consider myself to be a superstitious person") is reverse scored. The scores are summed to a total ranging between 22 and 110. In Wood and Clapham's (2005) development of the inventory, the DBC demonstrated high internal consistency ($\alpha > .91$). 2.4.3 Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI)

This 9-item self-report measure developed by Ferris and Wynne (2001) asks participants to respond to a series of statements relating to their gambling behaviour in the previous 12 months. Items include "Have you bet more than you could really afford to lose?" and "When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost?". Each item is measured on a 4-point scale that ranges from 0 (*never*) to 3 (*almost always*). (See Appendix D for full item list). Scores are totaled to a sum between 0 and 27, and participants can be classified according to risk categories: low level problems (1 to 2); moderate level problems (3 to 7); and problem gambling (8+). The PGSI has displayed high internal inconsistency scores ($\alpha > .80$), outperforming other problem gambling measures (Holgraves, 2009).

2.5 Outcome Measures

2.5.1 Dissimilar Illusory Control Task: Light Onset Task

In this computerised task, participants were told that their objective was to illuminate a light bulb, and that their decision to click (or not click) a button on the screen labeled "GET BULB" would have four potential outcomes: (1) click and the light bulb appears illuminated; (2) click and the light bulb appears not illuminated; (3) not click and the light bulb appears illuminated; (4) not click and the light bulb appears not illuminated. After pressing "PLAY GAME" on the screen, a red dot was displayed, signaling that participants had three seconds to either click or not click on the "GET BULB" button. If the button was clicked, the red dot disappeared and was immediately replaced by the light bulb. If it was not clicked, the red dot was replaced by the light bulb after the three seconds. There was no contingency between

clicking or not clicking and the light bulb's illumination status - the program was coded to have the same sequence of illuminated/non-illuminated results across all trials. 25 of the 50 trials resulted in an illumination.





Participants were also instructed to wager on their own performance during the task, which was split into 5 rounds of 10 trials each (total of 50 trials). Before each round, participants were required to wager on their own performance from a virtual 'pot' of \$2000. A win occurred if five or more light bulbs were illuminated in the subsequent round, and a loss occurred if participant illuminated four or less. In the event of a win, the amount wagered was returned in double (e.g. if \$100 was wagered on the first round, \$200 would be returned making the new pot \$2100). In the event of a loss, the amount wagered was relinquished (e.g. if \$100 was wagered on the first round, the new pot would be \$1900). The five rounds had a win-loss-win-loss-win sequence. (See Appendix E for full task instructions, stimuli and illumination/non-illumination sequence). To calculate gambling behaviour outcome measures, adapted from Martinez, Bonnefon and Hoskens (2009), participants' total wager amount across the task was divided by five (*average wager size*) and divided by the total amount held in each round's opening pot (*investment percentage*).

After completing all 50 trials, participants were asked (via pen and paper) to indicate their perceived level of control over illuminating the light bulb on a 100-point scale (*perceived control*) and to indicate how many of their 50 responses caused the bulb'(*perceived connection*). These illusory control measures were adapted from Balzan, Delfabbro, Gallently, and Woodward (2013).

2.5.2 Similar Illusory Control Task: Submarine Task

The other half of participants were assigned to a computer task with very similar instructions to the light onset task, but with a structure and objective that superficially resembled *Sea Wolf.* Participants were instructed that their goal was to detect an invisible submarine moving amongst nine segments of sea (using a "radar signal") by clicking on any segment. During each trial (titled as a "mission") participants were given ten radar signals before they were informed if they had been successful. Participants were told that clicking on a segment while the submarine was passing through would result in successful detection (see Figure 2.3). Conversely, not doing so would result in confirmation of non-detection. In fact, there was no contingency between clicking on the segments and successful detection; this task was also preprogrammed for a particular sequence of wins and losses between trials. This sequence was identical to that of the dissimilar illusory control task. 25 of the trials resulted in a detection.



Figure 3. Similar illusory control task. Displays field of detection (center), "Start Mission" command (bottom center), current pot and bet (top right), bet result (middle right), and bet input for the next round (bottom right).

In identical fashion to the dissimilar task, participants wagered on their performance across five rounds of ten seas each. The starting pot and win-loss sequence between rounds remained the same, as did the measuring of gambling outcome measures (Martinez et al., 2009). (See Appendix F for full task instructions, stimuli and detection/non-detection sequence).

After completing all 50 trials, participants completed Balzan et al.'s (2013) illusory control measures via pen and paper, this time adapted to the submarine task. Participants were asked to indicate their perceived level of control over detecting the submarine on a 100-point scale (*perceived control*) and to indicate how many of their 50 responses caused the submarine's detection (*perceived connection*).

2.6 Procedure

2.6.1 Information and Consent

Participants either signed up to the study via the University of Adelaide's Research Participation System (RPS) (if they were students from the Psychology 1 cohort), or contacted the experimenter via email or telephone (if they were participants from the community). Upon contact, they were given the laboratory's location, and provided with the expectation that the study would take no longer than 45 minutes. Psychology 1 students were granted with one participation credit for their participation, and community members were entered into the draw to win a \$50 JB Hi-Fi gift voucher.

Upon arrival, participants were given a study information sheet that detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria (see Appendix G), followed by a brief consent form where participants supplied their email addresses for prize draw information and a debrief of the research findings (see Appendix H). Participants were advised that this information would be kept separate from any other data collected during the research.

2.6.2 Questionnaire, Priming, and Illusory Control Tasks

Once providing informed consent, and once Psychology 1 students had provided their RPS ID number for course credit allocation, pen and paper survey measures (demographics and video game experience, DBC, PGSI) were undertaken. Participants were allocated to one of the 2x2 conditions (primed vs. not primed, control vs. video game illusory control task) by the experimenter during this time. Once completing the survey measures, participants were directed to one of the laboratory's two computer rooms. Those in the priming condition were directed to either play *Sea Wolf* for fifteen minutes (timed and terminated by the experimenter) and those in the non-priming condition were immediately directed to one of the two illusory control tasks. Those in the priming condition were also directed to their particular illusory control task once the fifteen minutes of playing had concluded; the experimenter closed their game's window and opened the task's window to proceed.

Participants in all conditions answered the illusory control outcome measures via pen and paper immediately after completing their task. The experimenter then recorded their wager data, stored on the illusory control task window, to an Excel spreadsheet on their personal computer. At the completion of the study, participants were offered an information sheet that provided facts about gambling, along with directions to gambling support services if needed (see Appendix I).

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Analytical Procedures

The first stage in the data analysis was to generate descriptive statistics for relevant demographic, psychometric and experimental measures and to examine the distribution of scores for outliers and other qualities (e.g., non-normality) that might influence the robustness of parametric testing. Pearson's r was used to examine the relationship between metric variables. The principal hypotheses were investigated using a 2 Condition (priming, no priming) x 2 Task (similar, dissimilar) factorial ANOVA. Hierarchical regression analyses were then used to test the relationship between metric predictor variables and outcome measures. Some ad hoc exploratory analyses were also conducting using Welch's independent samples *t*-tests. Bootstrapping procedures were used throughout the analyses to examine the stability of results in recognition of the relatively small sample size. These previous analyses were run through IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 24.0.0.1). Post hoc power analyses, run through G*Power (Version 2.0.1.0), determined that power across the main analyses ranged from 0.30 to 0.76 (all below a typically desired 0.8). Given the effect sizes found and the significance criterion of p = 0.05, the desired sample size for all analyses to reach statistical power of 0.8 would be N = 164 (i.e. 41 participants in each of the four groups).
3.2 Descriptive Statistics

3.2.1 Video Game Self-Reported Measures

The majority of participants (N = 60, 93.7%) reported playing video games at least once in a typical week. Hours played in a typical week (M = 5.5, SD = 5.9) ranged between 0 and 28, with: 32 of the identified players engaging in less than 5 hours per week (50%); 25 playing 5-15 hours per week (39.1%); and 3 playing more than 15 hours per week (4.7%). Twelve different video game genres were identified as participants' favourites, with the most popular being sport (42.2%), followed by open world (17.2%), first person shooter (10.9%) and massively multiplayer online role-playing (4.7%).

There were significant gender differences in perceived video game playing ability, although there was no significant difference in the numbers of video game hours played per week (Females: M = 4.7, SD = 5.8 vs. Males: M = 5.8, SD = 5.9), t(62) < 1. Females rated themselves as falling into a lower skill percentile in the population (M = 40.3, SD = 23.1) than males (M = 60.5, SD = 15.4); t(62) = 3.26, p < .01 95% CI [-30.3, -10.0]. There was a small to moderate positive relationship between self-rated video game ability and video game hours played, r (N = 64) 0.29, p < 0.05, 95% CI [0.07, 0.50]. No association was found between age and perceived video game ability or between age and video game hours played per week.

3.2.2 Beliefs about Chance and Gambling Severity

The average DBC score was 44.0 (SD = 11.4) (range of 27 to 70, as compared with a theoretical range of 22 to 110) which indicates that the sample, as a whole, scored more towards the less superstitious end of the scale. There was no gender difference in DBC score as well as

no correlations between DBC scores and: video game hours played per week; participant age; or PGSI scores (all p > 0.05).

The average PGSI score was 1.6 (SD = 2.1), with a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 9 (from a theoretical range of 0 to 27). Twenty-nine participants recorded a 0 (45.3%), 20 (31.3%) returned low risk scores; 14 (21.9%) had moderate level problems; and, one participant scored in the problem gambler range. Males (M = 1.9, SD = 2.1) scored significantly higher than females (M = 0.6, SD = 1.5), t(62) = 2.13, p < .05, 95% CI [0.8, 2.4]. There were no correlations between the PGSI and any of video game hours played, age, or DBC score (all p > 0.05).

3.2.3 Outcome Measures

Table 3.1 displays the perceived control and perceived connection for groups based on illusory control tasks and priming conditions. The mean perceived control (as measured by the question "On a scale of 0-100, how much control do you think you had over the light bulb's illumination/submarine's detection?") was 16.3 (SD = 24.2) across all experimental conditions with 31 (48.4%) perceiving a level of control greater than 0. The mean perceived connection (as measured by the question "Of the fifty trials/missions you participated in, how many times do you think the light bulb's illumination status/submarine's detection status was the result of your action?") was 11.2 (SD = 15.2) across all experimental conditions with 30 participants (46.9%) perceiving a level of connection greater than 0. For both variables, there was no significant association found for either gender or age.

	Perceived Control (1 - 100%)		Perceived Connection (1 - 50)			
	Dissimilar Task	Similar Task	Overall	Dissimilar task	Similar Task	Overall
Not primed	5.6 (12.2)	24.1 (23.9)	14.8 (20.9)	6.0 (11.0)	14.6 (16.0)	10.3 (14.2)
Primed	19.4 (30.4)	16.1 (24.9)	17.8 (27.4)	13.6 (18.6)	10.6 (14.0)	12.1 (16.2)
Overall	12.5 (23.9)	20.1 (24.4)		9.8 (15.5)	12.6 (14.9)	

Mean and (SD) of perceived control and connection in the 4 experimental conditions.

Note. Dissimilar task = light onset task; Similar task = submarine video-game style task.

Table 3.2 displays the wagering measures (average wager and investment) for groups based on illusory control tasks and priming conditions. Average wager (total of the five wagers in a participant's task, divided by five) had a mean of 270.8 (SD = 267.0) across all experimental conditions. The mean investment percentage (total of the five wagers in a participant's task, divided by the total of all five rounds' pots) was 13.7% (SD = 11.7%) across all experimental conditions. For both variables, there was no significant relationship found with either gender or age.

Table 2

	Average Wager			Investment Percentage			
	Dissimilar Task	Similar Task	Overall	Dissimilar Task	Similar Task	Overall	
Not primed	224.4 (202.3)	336.1 (275.2)	280.2 (244.3)	11.4 (9.44)	16.7 (12.6)	12.6 (11.3)	
Primed	219.6 (365.0)	303.0 (196.6)	261.3 (291.5)	10.1 (12.9)	16.7 (11.1)	13.4 (12.3)	
Overall	222.0 (290.3)	319.5 (235.9)		10.7 (11.1)	16.7 (11.7)		

Mean and (SD) of average wager and investment percentage in the 4 experimental conditions.

Note. Dissimilar task = light onset task; Similar task = submarine video-game style task.

3.3 Two-Way Factorial ANOVA

The 2 Condition x 2 Task ANOVA was conducted with four dependent variables of interest (perceived control, perceived connection, average wager, and investment percentage). For perceived control, there was no significant main effect of Condition, F(1, 64) < 1, or Task type, F(1, 64) = 1.63, p > .05, or Condition x Task type interaction, F(1, 64) = 3.32, p > .05 (See Figure 4). Similar results were obtained for the perceived connection outcome measure. There was no main effect of Condition, F(1, 64) < 1, Task type, F(1, 64) < 1, and no significant interaction, F(1, 64) = 2.36, p > .05.



Figure 4. Mean perceived control in the four experimental conditions. (N = 64).

The same analysis was conducted for average wager and investment percentage. There was no significant main effect of Condition, F(1, 64) < 1, or Task type, F(1, 64) = 2.11, p > .05, for average wager, or Condition x Task type interaction, F(1, 64) < 1. For investment percentage, there was no main effect of Condition, F(1, 64) < 1, but the Task type main effect was significant with the investment percentage found to be higher for the similar task, F(1, 64) = 4.24, p < .05. (See Figure 5). The Condition x Task Type interaction was non-significant, F(1, 64) < 1.



Figure 5. Mean investment percentage in the four experimental conditions. (N = 64).

3.4 Correlation Analysis

Table 3.3 displays Pearson product moment correlations across outcome, psychometric, demographic and video game playing variables. Perceived control and perceived connection are displayed as continuous variables, but their distributions are significantly affected by the large proportion of cases where participants responded '0' (i.e., no control or connection) at the conclusion of their tasks (N = 22, or 34.4%). To account for this, both variables were additionally classified as binary (i.e., control/connection = 0, or control/connection > 0) and used in point biserial correlations.

Hypothesis 3 predicted that video game hours would not be associated with illusory control (perceived connection and perceived control) and gambling behaviours (average wager and investment). No significant correlation was found between video game playing and any of the four outcome variables. Bootstrapping procedures confirmed that video game hours did not have a significant association with perceived control, (95% CI [-.14, .29]), perceived connection, (95% CI [-.14, .21]), average wager, (95% CI [-.14, .36]), or investment (95% CI [-.12, .41]). These non-significant results were sustained when controlling for priming condition and task type. Furthermore, illusory control variables remained insignificant when controlling for DBC scores, as did gambling variables when controlling for PGSI scores. However, perceived video game playing ability had a moderate negative correlation with perceived connection when recoded into a binary form, 95% CI [-.56, -.12]. This was the only video game related measure that had a significant association with any form of outcome variable.

There were no significant correlations found between either of the illusory control measures (perceived control and perceived connection) and either of the wagering behaviours (average wager, investment percentage), all p > .05.

Table 3

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
1. Age											
2. Sex	09										
3. Perceived control (total)	13	.11									
4. Perceived control (binary)	16	.00	.60***								
5. Perceived connection (total)	17	05	.49***	.48***							
6. Perceived connection (binary)	03	18	.48***	.63***	.70***						
7. Average wager	07	.01	.09	07	12	13					
8. Investment	08	02	.14	.01	12	10	.94***				
9. DBC	24	29*	.10	.23	.20	.24	10	09			
10. PGSI	10	26*	.00	.04	07	15	22	17	.07		
11. Video game hours	12	.08	.07	.05	.03	.00	.09	.15	.02	05	
12. Video game ability	13	.45***	06	10	12	35**	.14	.18	05	.24	.29*

Pearson's r correlations between study variables of interest.

Notes. *p < .05 (two-tailed), **p < .01, ***p < .001. DBC = Drake Beliefs about Chance Inventory, PGSI = Problem Gambling

Severity Index, 'Video game ability' = percentage of the population participant perceived themselves to be more skilled than.

3.5 Exploratory analyses

3.5.1 Independent Samples T-Tests

While most of the hypotheses yielded insignificant results, several ad-hoc exploratory analyses undertaken using Welch's independent samples *t*-tests revealed some additional insights. For example, the perceived control of participants placed in the condition with no priming and the light onset task (i.e. the condition with all video game components removed) (M = 5.6, SD = 12.2) was significantly lower than those in all other conditions (M = 19.9, SD = 26.2), t(62) = -2.09, p < .05, 95% CI [-27.8, -0.6]. However, there was a non-significant difference in perceived connection between this particular condition (M = 6.0, SD = 11.0) and all others (M = 12.9, SD = 16.0), t(62) = 1.60, p > .05, 95% CI [-15.6, 1.7].

Furthermore, in the condition without priming, there was a significant difference between tasks for perceived control, t(30) = 2.74, p < .05, 95% CI [-32.1, -4.76], with those in the similar task displaying significantly higher levels of control than those participating in the dissimilar task. However, perceived connection did not differ between the tasks, t(30) = 1.77, p > .05, 95% CI [-18.5, 1.34]. Conversely, perceived control and perceived connection ratings did not differ between task types in the primed group, both t(30) < 1.

A further analysis of a significant relationship reported in the correlational analyses found there was a significant difference in perceived video game ability (as a percentage relative to the rest of the population) between the 30 participants who perceived no connection (M = 62.6, SD =18.6) and the 34 who did perceive a connection (M = 49.1, SD = 18.4), t(62) = 2.91, p < .01, 95% CI [4.23, 22.7].

Chapter 4

Discussion

4.1 Overview of Study and Main Findings

The principal aim of this study was to examine whether exposure to a skill-based or contingent task appears to influence illusory control and hypothetical wagers in subsequent chance or non-contingent tasks. A secondary aim was to examine whether task similarity would also influence the possible transfer of learning from the pre-exposure task to the test tasks (chance tasks). In general, there was limited support for the main hypotheses. Pre-exposure to a skill-based video-game game did not appear to be related to subsequent ratings of perceived control and wager size in the chance tasks. In partial support for the study's second hypothesis, task similarity also had no effect on perceived control scores, but wager size was significantly higher in the similar task. However, exploratory analyses revealed that participants who were not primed did provide higher perceived skill ratings when participating in the similar task than those who undertook the dissimilar chance task, and that this task similarity increased wager size. In keeping with the third hypothesis, video game playing frequency had no significant association with perceived control and wager size. The study also showed that perceived video game ability had an unexpected moderate negative point bi-serial correlation with illusory control ratings in the chance task.

4.2 Detailed Analysis of Findings

4.2.1 Illusion of Control

Despite what was predicted, being exposed to the contingent video game did not have a significant effect on perceived control in a subsequent chance task. This is not consistent with the effects reported by Langer (1975), who found that orientation to a task, with slight differences to a test task, significantly increased perceptions of control. Nor is it consistent with learned helplessness research, where being exposed to a non-contingent situation has been shown to significantly affect perceived control when contingency is introduced (Seligman, 1972). Task similarity also had no significant effect on perceived control, inconsistent with the learned helplessness findings of Tiggeman and Winefield (1978). In their study, participants were more likely to perceive non-contingency if a task presented superficial similarities to a non-contingent task. However, exploratory analyses revealed that the similar task had significantly higher perceived control ratings than the dissimilar task in the condition without priming. This lends some credence to task similarity having an impact, as it could be contended that priming altered the effect for the rest of the sample. However, if the effect had been significantly strong, a significant Condition by Task interaction effect should also have been observed.

As predicted in the third hypothesis, video game hours played per week did not have a significant association with perceived control. This reflects the literature's inconsistent links between video game activity and perceived control, in particular the findings of King et al. (2012). Their study found that while a positive association between video game hours and illusory control was found in a sample of regular gamblers, regular video gamers' hours played had no such significant association. In the present sample, most participants had low levels of

involvement in gambling and scored low on the problem gambling measure, perhaps indicating that King et al.'s (2012) significant link was confined to those with a greater interest in gambling.

Correlational analysis found that those who perceived some connection (i.e. perceived connection > 0) reported themselves as significantly less skilled at video games than those who perceived no connection. Due to the absence of significant associations between other video gaming measures and the outcome variables, the meaning of this finding is unclear. However, it does reflect findings from King et al. (2012) wherein regular video gamers were significantly less likely to attribute gambling successes to chance than a control sample. This may be because more proficient video gamers are better able to detect the difference between contingent video game tasks and games of chance.

4.2.2 Virtual Gambling Behaviours

Likewise, being primed with the video game task was not associated with significantly higher wager sizes. This prediction was made on the assumption that higher wagers would be the result of increased illusory control after priming, as per the aforementioned work of Langer (1975). However, investment percentage was significantly higher in the similar task. This suggests that participant confidence was higher in the similar task, consistent with effects found in learned helplessness research by Tiggeman and Winefield (1978). This finding is also consistent with Langer (1975), where superficial skill cues, acquired from natural experience, increased risk-taking in chance tasks. It is reasonable to suggest that for participants in this sample (93.8% of whom played video games once per week) these video game elements acted as a situational skill cue.

Video game playing frequency had no such correlation with virtual gambling behaviours, again supporting the findings of King et al. (2012), whereby neither regular video game players, nor regular gamblers, displayed significant associations between video game hours played and gambling behaviours. The present results, while unique in their testing of the relationship in a laboratory setting, are not consistent with claims in earlier literature that video game play can foster detrimental gambling cognition and behaviour (Gupta & Derevensky, 1996; Fisher & Griffiths, 1995).

4.3 Implications and Future Directions

The current study provides some evidence that video game elements affect wager behaviour in a virtual chance gambling task. The findings indicate that video game playing frequency is not associated with illusory control or wager behaviour, and that preliminary exposure to a skilled video game task does not affect these outcome variables.

While the results do indicate that video game elements elicit higher wagers, the specific gaming elements responsible for this link were not examined. This becomes more problematic when considering previous literature (Gupta & Derevensky, 1996; Griffiths, 1993; Wood et al., 2004), which proposes a variety of video game characteristics that may be responsible for a link between video gaming and illusory control. As a result, future research should also undertake investigations into how particular characteristics of video games (e.g., sound, graphics, objectives) can affect illusory control and wager behaviour.

The experimental nature of this research meant that investigation of real and consequential gambling behaviours was not feasible. A more naturalistic design could detail

examine gambling behaviours such as financial expenditure and gambling frequency, and investigate whether these variables are associated with how similarly the elements of their chosen gambling tasks mirror that of a video game. This could clarify the effect observed in this study whereby a task resembling a video game significantly increased investment percentage.

Significantly, the study does not separate whether the effects observed were unique to video games, or more generalisable to the effects (and lack thereof) one could observe from another contingent task. A replication study with a focus on a more ordinary contingent task (void of video game elements) could investigate whether this study's results are indicative of broader patterns in contingency learning, or confined to the effects of skilled video game media.

Due to this study's methodological limitations (discussed below) and inconsistent results, more research is vital before any practical application is considered. However, if stronger effects emerge in subsequent literature, problem gambling interventions could involve teaching clients to better discriminate between contingency and non-contingency in electronic gambling media. Furthermore, if superficial elements of video games can truly elicit increased levels of perceived control and wager size, CBT could incorporate this generalisation of contingency as an erroneous implicit belief to combat in homework exercises and one-on-one discussions with clients.

4.4 Strengths and Limitations of the Current Study

The primary strengths of this study include the controlled manipulation of video game play to better discern a link between skilled task exposure and illusory control. Furthermore, its manipulation of video game elements in an illusory control task makes it possible to examine the impact of these situational skill cues in a similar manner to classical illusion of control literature.

While much of the literature investigating the relationship between video gaming and gambling cognition has relied on naturally occurring video gaming and gambling variables, the current study was able to examine a potential cognitive relationship in a contrived setting on a general sample.

However, the methodology used was not without its weaknesses. Wood, Griffiths, Chappell and Davies (2004), when assessing how video game media has altered a link between gaming and gambling, demonstrated that the three most important structural components of a video game for frequent users are realism in sound, graphics and setting. While this study simply wanted to establish a link between play and control, there were insufficient resources to develop a more realistic and engaging software platform. Future studies should aim to utilise more realistic video games that can accurately emulate a contemporary video gaming experience.

Occasionally, participants required help from the researcher to understand the instructions in the illusion of control tasks (see Appendices E and F). This lack of understanding may have led to problems in learning the tasks' rules, properly evaluating action-outcome links, and completing the task as the research intended. While precautions were taken to ensure that the instructions were clear and comprehensive, there is a chance that many participants had an insufficient grasp of their expectations and were unable to properly evaluate their level of control over the task's outcomes. In particular, the light-onset task proved difficult, as many participants expressed that they believed clicking the "GET BULB" button repeatedly was the only way to progress. Tasks with more familiar or simpler controls are advisable for future research.

Despite the critique of the literature's traditional investigation of adolescents and young adults, an overwhelming majority of participants recruited for this study were young and/or

male. Overall, the sample had a mean age of 22.1, with 59 (92.2%) under 25 years old. Furthermore, 48 (75%) were male and 44 (68.8%) were males under 25 years old. Because of the typical demographics of Australian video gaming (Brand and Todhunter, 2015), it is most probable that the sample acquired were more frequent video gamers than the rest of the population. The reason for this over-representation of young people is due to the research's execution on a university campus, as well as the study's advertising (see Appendix A) appealing to those who enjoyed video gaming and gambling (activities which share a predominantly male audience). Replicated studies with a more gender-balanced sample and a broadly distributed age range are recommended.

Finally, *post hoc* power analysis revealed the sample size (N = 64) was too small for attaining desired power (0.8) given the effect sizes obtained (statistical power ranged from 0.30 from 0.76) through. It was determined that a sample of N = 164 was required to bring all analyses to a power of 0.8 given their effect sizes and significance criterion of p < .05. In future, increased participant incentive and a greater time frame for data collection are advised to increase sample size.

4.5 Conclusions

This study provides limited evidence that exposure to skill-based video game cues influence subsequent performance on a non-contingent or chance-based task. While the study attempted to exert some laboratory control over effects which are hypothesised to occur in realistic settings, more refined studies are needed to investigate how contingent task priming (and video games in particular) can influence people's behaviour in situations of this nature. The findings highlight the need for further research into contingency priming, the significance of superficially contingent elements in tasks with a wagering component, and the role that video games may play in eliciting illusory control.

References

- Alloy, L. B., & Abramson, L. Y. (1979). Judgment of contingency in depressed and nondepressed students: sadder but wiser? *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 108, 441-485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.108.4.441</u>
- Alloy, L. B., Abramson, L. Y., & Viscusi, D. (1981). Induced mood and the illusion of control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41, 1129-1140. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.41.6.1129
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th edition, text rev.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.97080890425596.744053
- Andrews, G. (2008). Gameplay, gender, and socioeconomic status in two American high schools. *E-Learning*, *5*(2), 199-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.2304/elea.2008.5.2.199</u>
- Ayeroff, F., & Abelson, R. P. (1976). ESP and ESB: Belief in personal success at mental telepathy. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 34(2), 240-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/002-3514.34.2.240</u>
- Balzan, R. P., Delfabbro, P. H., Galletly, C., S., & Woodward, T. S. (2013). Illusory correlations and control a cross the psychosis continuum: The contribution of hypersalient evidence-hypothesis matches. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 201(4), 319-327.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e318288e229
- Bargeron, A. H., & Hormes, J. M. (2017). Psychosocial correlates of Internet gaming disorder:
 Psychopathology, life satisfaction, and impulsivity. *Computers in Human Behavior, 68*, 388-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.029</u>

- Baron, E., & Dickerson, M. (1999). Alcohol consumption and self-control of gambling behavior. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 15(1), 3-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023057027992</u>
- Barrault, S., & Varescon, I. (2013). Cognitive distortions, anxiety, and depression among regular and pathological gambling online poker players. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 16*(3), 183-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2012.0150</u>
- Benassi, V. A., Sweeney, P. D., & Drevno, G. E. (1979). Mind over matter: Perceived success at psychokinesis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *37*(8), 1377-1386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.37.9.1377</u>
- Billieux, J., Van der Linden, M., Khazaal, Y., Zullino, D., & Clark, L. (2012). Trait gambling cognitions predict near-miss experiences and persistence in laboratory slot machine gambling. *British Journal of Psychology*, 103(3), 412-427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.2011.02083.x</u>
- Biner, P. M., Angle, S. T., Park, J. H., Mellinger, A. E., & Barber, B. C. (1995). Need and the illusion of control. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(9), 899-907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295219004</u>
- Bouts, P. & Van Avermaet, E. (1992). Drawing familiar or unfamiliar cards: stimulus familiarity, chance orientation, and the illusion of control. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18(3), 331-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167292183009</u>
- Brand, J. E., & Todhunter, S. (2015). *Digital Australia Report 2016*. Eveleigh, New South Wales: Interactive Games & Entertainment Association. Retrieved from <u>http://www.igea.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Digital-Australia-2016-DA16-Final.pdf</u>

- Brown, R. I. F. (1989). Gaming, gambling, risk-taking, addictions and a developmental model of man-machine relationships. In J.Klabbers, D. Croowall, H. de Jong, & W. Scheper (Eds.), *Simulation Gaming* (p. 368). Oxford: Pergamon.
- Burger, J. M., & Cooper, H. M. (1979). The desirability of control. *Motivation and Emotion*, *3*(4), 381-393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00994052</u>
- Calado, F., Alexandre, J. & Griffiths, M. D. (2014). Mom, Dad it's only a game! Perceived gambling and gaming behaviours among adolescents and young adults: an exploratory study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *12*(6), 772 794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-014-9509-y
- Castrén, S., Pankakoski, M., Tamminen, M., Lipsanen, J., Ladouceur, R., & Lahti, T. (2013).
 Internet-based CBT intervention for gamblers in Finland: Experiences from the field.
 Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 54(3), 230-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12034</u>
- Chrétien, M., Giroux, I., Goulet, A., Jacques, C., & Bouchard, S. (2017). Cognitive restructuring of gambling-related thoughts: A systematic review. *Addictive Behaviors*, 75, 108-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.07.001</u>
- Cowlishaw, S., Merkouris, S., Dowling, N., Anderson, C., Jackson, A., & Thomas, S. (2012).
 Psychological therapies for pathologoical and problem gambling. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 11, CD008937. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008937.pub2</u>
- Delfabbro, P. H. (2010). *Exploring the myths around gambling*. Paper presented at Gambling Awareness Week, Melbourne, Australia. Retrieved from:

http://www.flinders.edu.au/for_business_and_community_files/Documents/anglicare/Selfa wareness-Feb2012.pdf

- Delfabbro, P., King, D., Lambos, C., & Puglies, S. (2009). Is video-game playing a risk factor for pathological gambling in Australian adolescents? *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 25(3), 391-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9138-8</u>
- Deveau, J., Lovcik, G., & Seitz, A. R. (2014). Broad-based visual benefits from training with an integrated perceptual-learning video game. *Vision Research*, 99, 134-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2013.12.015</u>
- Devís-Devís, J., Peiró-Velert, C., Beltrán-Carillo, V. J., & Tomás, J. M. (2009). Screen media time usage of 12-16 year-old Spanish school adolescents: Effects of personal and socioeconomic factors, season and time of day. *Journal of Adolescence*, *32*(2), 213-231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.04.004
- Dickerson, M. G. (1993). Internal and external determinants of persistent gambling: Problems in generalising from one form of gambling to another. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 9(3), 225-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BG01015920</u>
- Dong, G. & Potenza, M. N. (2014). A cognitive-behavioral model of Internet gaming disorder: Theoretical underpinnings and clinical implications. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 58, 7-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.07.005
- Darke, P. R., & Freedman, J. L. (1997). The belief in good luck scale. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 31, 486-511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/jrpe.1997.2197</u>
- Duven, E. C. P., Müller, K. W., Beutel, M. E., & Wölfing, K. (2014). Altered reward processing in pathological computer gamers - ERP-results from a semi-natural gaming-design. *Brain* and Behavior, 5(1), 13-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/brb3.293</u>
- Ejova, A. (2013). *The illusion of control: Influencing factors and underlying psychological processes.* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from

http://digital.library.adelaide.edu.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/dsapce/bitstream/2440/8 2056/3/02whole.pdf

- Ejova, A., Delfabbro, P., & Navarro, D. (2010). The illusion of control: structure, measurement and dependence on reinforcement frequency in the context of a laboratory gambling task.
 In W. Christensen, E. Schier, & J.Sutton (Eds.), *ASCS09: Proceedings of the 9th conference of the Australasian society for cognitive science* (pp. 84-92). Sydney: Macquarie Centre for Cognitive Science. <u>https://doi.org/10.5096/ASCS200914</u>
- Ejova, A., Delfabbro, P., & Navarro, D. (2015). Erroneous gambling-related beliefs as illusions of primary and secondary control: a confirmatory factor analysis. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 31(1), 133-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-013-9402-9</u>
- Emond, M. S., & Marmurek, H. H. (2010.). Gambling related cognitions mediate the association between thinking style and problem gambling severity. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(2), 257-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9164-6</u>
- Fairclough, S. J., Boddy, L. M., Hackett, A. F. & Stratton, G. (2009). Associations between children's socioeconomic status, weight status, and sex, with screen-based sedentary behaviours and sport participation. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, *4*, 299-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/17477160902811215</u>
- Fenton-O'Creevy, M., Nicholson, N., Soane, E., & Willman, P. (2003). Trading on illusions: Unrealistic perceptions of control and trading performance. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 76, 53-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/09631790332120880</u>
- Ferris, J., and Wynne, H. (2001). *The Canadian Problem Gambling Index: Final report*.Submitted to Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse.

- Fisher, S., & Griffiths, M. (1995). Current trends in slot machine gambling: Research and policy issues. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *1*(3), 239-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02104791</u>
- Forrest, C. J., King, D. L. & Delfabbro, P. H. (2016a). Maladaptive cognitions predict changes in problematic gaming in highly-engaged adults: a 12-month longitudinal study. *Addictive Behaviors*, 65(1), 125-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.10.013</u>
- Freidenberg, B. M., Blanchard, E. B., Wulfert, E., & Malta, L. S. (2002). Changes in Physiological arousal to gambling cues among participants in motivationally enhanced cognitive-behavior therapy for pathological gambling: A preliminary study. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*, 27(4), 251-260.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021057217447

- Friedland, N., Keinan, G., & Regev, Y. (1992). Controlling the uncontrollable: effects of stress on illusory perceptions of controllability. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(6), 923-931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.63.6.923</u>
- Friendland, N., Keinan, G., & Regev, Y. (1992). Controlling the uncontrollable: Effects of stress on illusory perceptions of controllability. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(6), 923-931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.6.923</u>
- Fu, W. & Yu, C. K. -C. (2015). Predicting disordered gambling with illusory control, gaming preferences, and Internet gaming addiction among Chinese youth. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 13(3), 391-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-014-9532-z</u>
- Gilovich, T. & Douglas, C. (1985). Biased evaluations of randomly determined gambling outcomes. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 22(3), 228-241.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/002-1031(86)90026-0

- Giroux, I., Faucher-Gravel, A., St-Hilaire, A., Boudreault, C., Jacques, C., & Bouchard, S. (2013). Gambling exposure in virtual reality and modification of urge to gamble. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 16*(3), 224-231.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2012.1573
- Griffiths, M. D. (1991a). Amusement machine playing in childhood and adolescence: a comparative analysis of video games and fruit machines. *Journal of Adolescence*, *14*, 53-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/0140-1971(91)90045-S
- Griffiths, M. D. (1991b). The observational study of adolescent gambling in UK amusement arcades. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 1(4), 309-320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2450010406</u>
- Griffiths, M. D. (1993). Fruit machine gambling: The importance of structural characteristics. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 9(2), 101-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01014863</u>
- Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. L. (1996). The relationship between gambling and video-game playing behavior in children and adolescents. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *12*(4), 375-394.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01539183
- Hammond, T. B., & Horswill, M. S. (2001). The influence of desire for control on drivers' risktaking behaviour. *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behavior*, 4(4), 271-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-8478(01)00028-6</u>
- Holgraves, T. (2009). Evaluating the problem gambling severity index. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 25(1), 105-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-008-9107-7</u>
- Hong, Y. -Y., & Chiu, C.-Y. (1988). Sex, locus of control, and illusion of control in Hong Kong as correlates of gambling involvement. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *128*(5), 667-673.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.1988.9922920

- Jenkins, H. M., & Ward, W. C. (1965). Judgement of contingency between responses and outcomes. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 79(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093874</u>
- Karle, J. W., Watter, S., & Shedden, J. M. (2010). Task switching in video game players: benefits of selective attention but not resistance to proactive interference. *Act Psychologica*, 134(1), 70-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.12.007</u>
- King, D. L., Delfabbro, P. H., & Griffiths, M.D. (2010). The convergence of gambling and digital media: Implications for gambling in young people. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(2), 175-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9153-9</u>
- King, D. L., Ejova, A., & Delfabbro, P. H. (2012). Illusory control, gambling, and video gaming: an investigation of regular gamblers and video game players. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 28(3), 421-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-011-9271-z</u>
- Ladouceur, R. & Mayrand, M. (1987). The level of involvement and the timing of betting in roulette. *The Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *121*(2), 169-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1987.9712654</u>
- Ladouceur, R. & Mayrand, M. (1984). Evaluation of the "illusion of control": Type of feedback, outcome sequence, and number of trials among regular and occasional gamblers. *Journal* of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied, 117(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1984.9923656

Ladouceur, R., Sylvain, C., Letarte, H., Giroux, I., & Jacques, C. (1998). Cognitive treatment of pathological gamblers. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 36(12), 1111-1119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(98)00086-2</u>

- Langer, E.J. (1975). The illusion of control. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 32(2), 311-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.32.2.311</u>
- Langer, E. J. & Roth, J. (1975). Heads I win, tails it's chance: The illusion of control as a function of the sequence of outcomes in a purely chance task. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 32(6), 951-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//002-3514.32.6.951</u>
- Legare, C. H. & Souza, A. L. (2013). Searching for control: Priming randomness increases the evaluation of ritual efficacy. *Cognitive Science*, 38, 152-161. https://doi.org/10.1111/cogs.12077
- Li, H., & Wang, S. (2013). The role of cognitive distortion in online game addiction among Chinese adolescents. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(2013), 1468-1475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.05.021</u>
- Martin, D. J., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy, L. B. (1984). Illusion of control for self and others in depressed and nondepressed college students. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(1), 123-136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.46.1.125</u>
- Martinez, F., Bonnefon, J. -F., & Hoskens, J. (2009). Active involvement, not illusory control, increases risk taking in a gambling game. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 52(6), 1063-1071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17470210802602524</u>
- Martinovic, D., Ezeife, C. I., Whent, R., Reed, J., Burgess, G.H., Pomerleau, C. M., Yang, Y., & Chaturvedi, R. (2014). "Critic-proofing" of the cognitive aspects of simple games. *Computers & Education*, 72, 132-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.10.017</u>
- Matute, H. (1994). Learned helplessness and superstitious behaviour as opposite effects of uncontrollable reinforcement in humans. *Learning and Motivation*, 25(2), 216-232.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/lmot.1994.1012

- Matute, H. (1995). Human reactions to uncontrollable outcomes: Further evidence for superstitions rather than helplessness. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 48(B), 142-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14640749508401444</u>
- Matute, H. (1996). Illusion of control: Detecting response-outcome independence in analytic but not naturalistic conditions. *Psychological Science*, 7(5), 289-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.1996.tb00376.x</u>

McBride, J., & Derevensky, J. (2016). Gambling and video game playing among youth. *Journal* of Gambling Issues, 2016(34), 156-178. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2016.34.9

- Moulding, R., & Kyrios, M. (2006). Anxiety disorders and control related beliefs: the exemplar of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD). *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(5), 573-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.01.009</u>
- Myrseth, H., Brunborg, G. S., & Eidem, M. (2010). Differences in cognitive distortions between pathological and non-pathological gamblers with preferences for chance or skill games. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(4), 561-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-010-9180-6</u>
- Nassir Ghaemi, S. (2007). Feeling and time: The phenomenology of mood disorders, depressive realism, and existential psychotherapy. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 33*(1), 122-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbl061</u>
- Orgaz, C., Estévez, A., & Matute, H. (2013). Pathological gamblers are more vulnerable to the illusion of control in a standard associative learning task. *Fronters in Psychology*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00306</u>
- Parker, J., & Griffiths, M. (2006). The psychology of the fruit machine: The role of structural characteristics (revisited). *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 4(2), 151-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-006-9014-z</u>

- Perales, J. C., Navas, J. F., Ruiz de Lara, C. M., Maldonado, A., & Catena, A. (2017). Causal learning in gambling disorder: Beyond the illusion of control. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 33(2), 705-717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-016-9634-6</u>.
- Productivity Commission. (2010). Gambling. Productivity Commission Inquiry Report. Volume 1. (Report No. 50). Canberra: Productivity Commission. Retrieved from <u>https://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/gambling-2009/report</u>
- Raylu, N., & Oei, T. P. S. (2002). Pathological gambling: A comprehensive review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 22(7), 1009-1061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7358(02)00101-0</u>
- Reid, R. L. (1986). The psychology of the near miss. *Journal of Gambling Behavior*, 2(1), 32-39. https://doi.org/10.1007/BG01019932
- Rudski, J. (2001). Competition, superstition and the illusion of control. *Current Psychology: Research and Reviews*, 20(1), 68-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-001-1004-5</u>
- Rudski, J. (2004). The illusion of control, superstitious belief, and optimism. *Current Psychology*, 22(4), 306-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-004-1036-8</u>
- Sahin, M., Gumus, Y. Y., & Dincel, S. (2014). Game addiction and academic achievement. *Educational Psychology*, *36*(9), 1533-1543.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2014.972342

- Seligman, M. E. (1972). Learned helplessness. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 23(1), 407-412. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.me.23.020172.002203
- Shao, R., Sun, D., Lee, T. M. C. (2016). The interaction of perceived control and Gambler's fallacy in risky decision making: An fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 37(3), 1218-1234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.23098</u>

- Strickland, L. H., Lewicki, R. J., & Katz, A. M. (1966). Temporal orientation and perceived control as determinants of risk-taking. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 2(2), 143-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1031(66)90075-8</u>
- Subramaniam, M., Chong, S. A., Browning, C., & Thomas, S. (2017). Cognitive distortions among older adult gamblers in an Asian context. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(5), e0178036. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0178036</u>
- Tiggemann, M., & Winefield, A. H. (1978). Situation similarity and the generalization of learned helplessness. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 30(4), 725-735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14650747808400697</u>
- Toneatto, T. (1999). Cognitive psychopathology of problem gambling. *Substance Use and Misuse*, *34*(11), 1593-1604. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10826089909039417</u>
- Toneatto, T., Blitz-Miller, T., Calderwood, K., Dragonetti, R., & Tsanos, A. (1997). Cognitive distortions in heavy gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 13(3), 253-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024983300428</u>
- White, S. (1989). Against the odds. Young People Now, April, 26-27.
- Wohl, M. J. A., & Enzle, M. E. (2002). The deployment of personal luck: Sympathetic magic and illusory control in games of pure chance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(10), 1388-1397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/014616702236870</u>
- Wood, R. T. A., Griffiths, M. D., Chappell, D., & Davies, M. N. O. (2004). The structural characteristics of video games: a psycho-structural analysis. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 7(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/109493104322820057</u>

- Wood, R. T. A., Gupta, R., Derevensky, J. L. & Griffiths, M. (2004). Video game playing and gambling in adolescents: Common risk factors. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 14(1), 77-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J029v14n01_05</u>
- Wood, W. S. & Clapham, M. M. (2005). Development of the Drake Beliefs about Chance Inventory. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 21(4), 411-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-005-5566-4</u>
- Yarritu, I., Matute, H., & Vadillo, M. A. (2014). Illusion of control: the role of personal involvement. *Experimental Psychology*, 61(1), 38-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000225</u>
- Yang, Y. T. C. (2012). Building virtual cities, inspiring intelligent citizens: digital games for developing students' problem solving and learning motivation. *Computers & Education*, 59(2), 365-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedua.2012.01.012</u>

Appendix A: Advertising Material

Advertising slip used in print at the University of Adelaide (between 19th May and 31st August

2017) and as a JPEG file on social media site Facebook (posted 26th July 2017).



Appendix B: Demographic and Video Game Experience/Ability Measures

The information below will not be linked to your name or any contact details provided.

Are you a Psychology I student participating for course credit?

□ Yes. EMS participation ID number: _____.

□ No. An anonymous ID number will be generated for you.

What is your sex?

□ Male □ Female

What is your current age in years? _____

What is your current work status, independent of study?

□ Employed, full-time.

 \Box Employed, part-time.

 \Box Employed, casual.

 \Box Unemployed.

□ Other (please specify):

What is your highest level of *completed* education?

 \Box Did not complete high school.

□ High school

 \Box Certificate

□ Diploma

□ Bachelor degree

□ Masters degree

□ Advanced graduate work/Ph.D. What is your country of birth? □ Australia □ A country other than Australia (please specify): _____

In a typical week in the last 12 months, how many hours would you estimate you spend playing video games? If it ranges, give the average within that range (e.g. if it ranges between 5 and 10 hours, write "7.5 hours").

Give a rating out of 10 indicating your perceived ability in playing video games involving skill and/or strategy, compared to an average person in the population. (1 = very below average, 5 = about average, 10 = very above average)

Give a rating out of 10 indicating your perceived ability in playing video games involving skill and/or strategy, compared to an average person who plays video games. (1 = very below average, 5 = about average, 10 = very above average)

What percentage of the population would you consider yourself to be more skilled than? (e.g. If you think you are more skilled than half of the population, write "50%").

If you play video games, which of the following genres do you allocate the most playing time towards? Select ONE only.

□ First-person shooter (e.g. Call of Duty, Halo)

□ Sport (e.g. FIFA, NBA 2K)

□ Family/farm simulation (e.g. The Sims, Farmville)

□ Open world (e.g. Grand Theft Auto, Red Dead Redemption)

□ Massively multiplayer online role-playing games (e.g. World of Warcraft)

□ Arcade games (e.g. Pacman, Space Invaders)

□ Multiplayer online battle arena (e.g. League of Legends)

 \Box Other (please specify, with examples of game/s):

Appendix C: Drake Beliefs about Chance Inventory

Use this scale to demonstrate your level of agreement with the following statements: 1 = Strongly disagree 2 = Disagree 3 = Neutral 4 = Agree 5 = Strongly agree 1. I like to carry a lucky coin, charm or taken when I'm doing something important. $\Box 1 \ \Box 2 \ \Box 3 \ \Box 4 \ \Box 5$

2. I can improve my chances of winning by performing special rituals.

$\Box 1 \Box 2 \Box 3 \Box 4 \Box$
--

3. There may be magic in certain numbers.

□1	□2	□3	□4	□5
----	----	----	----	----

4. When I take a test (or took them in the past), I use a lucky pen or pencil.

□1	□2	□3	□4	□5
----	----	----	----	----

5. I have a special system for picking lottery numbers.

6. There is useful information in my daily horoscope.

 $\Box 1 \quad \Box 2 \quad \Box 3 \quad \Box 4 \quad \Box 5$

7. When I need a little luck I wear lucky clothes or jewelry.

□1	□2	□3	□4	□5
----	----	----	----	----

8. A game of chance is a contest of wills between the game and the player.

9. I believe that fate is against me when I lose.

□1	□2	□3	□4	□5

10. Playing poker machines is a form of competition between the player and the machine.

 $\Box 1 \quad \Box 2 \quad \Box 3 \quad \Box 4 \quad \Box 5$

11. I do not consider myself to be a superstitious person.

$\Box 1 \ \Box 2 \ \Box 3 \ \Box 4 \ \Box 5$

12. A good casino gambler is like a quarterback who knows winning plays and when to use them.

	2 🗆 3	□4	□5
--	-------	----	----

13. There are secrets to successful casino gambling that can be learned.

14. Wins are more likely to occur on a hot machine.

15. Show me a gambler with a well-planned system and I'll show you a win	nner.
--	-------

$\Box 1 \Box 2$	□3	□4	□5
------------------	----	----	----

16. The more familiar I am with a casino game, the more likely I am to win.

17. It is good advice to stay	with the sam	e pair of dice	on a winning streak.
-------------------------------	--------------	----------------	----------------------

18. One should pay attention to lottery numbers that often win.

19. If a coin is tossed and comes up heads ten times in a row, the next toss is more likely to be tails.

 $\Box 1 \quad \Box 2 \quad \Box 3 \quad \Box 4 \quad \Box 5$

20. I will be more successful if I have a system to play poker machines.

21. Some gamblers are just born lucky.

□1	□2	□3	□4	$\Box 5$

22. The longer I've been losing, the more likely I am to win.

$\Box 1 \Box 2 \Box 3 \Box 4 \Box$	5
--	---

Appendix D: Problem Gambling Severity Index

Thinking about the last 12 months:

1. Have you bet more than you could really afford to lose?

□ Never □ Rarely □ Occasionally □ Often

2. Still thinking about the last 12 months, have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often

3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost?

□ Never □ Rarely □ Occasionally □ Often

4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often

5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often

6. Has gambling caused you any health problems, included stress or anxiety?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often

7. Have people criticised your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true?

□ Never □ Rarely □ Occasionally □ Often

8. Has your gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often

9. Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble?

 \Box Never \Box Rarely \Box Occasionally \Box Often
Appendix E: Dissimilar Illusory Control Task

Instructions, Stimuli, Win Sequence and Post Task Items



1.Task instructions - outlining of task objective.

	\$
Each time a red dot appears on the screen, you may press the space bar to try to make a light builb light up. You will have 3 seconds to click the mouse button. If you click the mouse button, the bulb will immediately appear, and you will be able to see if it is illuminated. If you do not click the mouse button, the light bulb will appear after 3 seconds anyway. It will be either illuminated or NOT illuminated in that	Current Pot 0000 Current Bet 0000
situation as well.	DATA BUT

2. Task instructions - explanation of trial procedure. Note 'space bar' instructional error.



3. Task instructions - list of possible outcomes.

You will be able to wager virtual money on how many light bulbs you will illuminate in a round 'round' of 10 trials. There will be 5 rounds of 10 trials each.	\$ Current Pot 0000 Current Bet 0000
Next instruction	
	DATA DAT

4. Task instructions - introduction of gambling elements.

	\$
You will be wagering as to whether you illuminate 5 light hulls or MORE per you	can Current Pot 0000
10 trials. If you achieve this target, you double the money you have bet. If yo illuminate fewer than 5, you will lose you For example, if you bet \$50, the \$50 bet be lost. If you win, then you get \$100	will Current Bet 00000 will
Next instruction	
	DATA

5. Task instructions - explanation of gambling system.

Your starting Pot is \$2000. Please input your bet amount for the first round of 10 trials.	\$ Current Pot 0000 Current Bet 0000
Lightboltons X Paerotinnu lot anvoit Ott Cond Continue	BX5A Det

6. Task stimuli - initial wagering instruction.

	ROUND 1	\$
Press 'Play' to begin each game.	•	Current Pot 1911 Current Bet 89 OK for this round you will win: 178 If you get 5 or more bulb illuminations in this round.
	PLAY GAME GET BULB	DAYA ExiT

7. Task stimuli - red dot prompting action or inaction.

	ROUND 1	\$
Press 'Play' to begin each		Current Pot 1911
game.		Current Bet 89
	(777)	OK for this round you will win:
	E /	178
	W	If you get 5 or more bulb illuminations in this round.
	PLAY GAME GET BULB	DATA
		EXT

8. Task stimuli - non-illuminated light bulb (failure).

	ROUND 1	\$
Press 'Play' to begin each		Current Pot 1911
game.		Current Bet 89
		OK for this round you will win:
		178
	U	If you get 5 or more bulb illuminations in this round.
	PLAY GAME GET BULB	D*76
		THE

9. Task stimuli - illuminated light bulb (success).

Press 'Play' to begin each game.	You have reached the end of round 1. You got 5 light-bulbs. You have doubled your bet.	\$ Current Pot 2089 Current Bet 89
		You have won an extra:
	tightivilitesk ×	89
	How much vould you like to ber for Round 27 DK Carcel	Congratulations
	PLAY GAME GET BULB	DATA

10. Task stimuli - indication of round success or failure, transition to next round.

Pre-programmed outcome sequence per trial =

Post-task perceived control and perceived connection items:

On a scale of 0-100, how much control do you think you had over the light bulb's illumination?

Of the fifty trials you participated in, how many times do you think the light bulb's illumination status was the result of your actions?

Appendix F:

Instructions, Stimuli, Win Sequence and Post-Task Items for the Submarine Task



1. Task instructions - outlining of task objective.



2. Task instructions - explanation of topography.



3. Task instructions - sea exemplar.



4. Task instructions - explanation of trial procedure.



5. Task instructions - introduction of gambling elements.



6. Task instructions - explanation of gambling system.



7. Task instructions - explanation of pot and wagering limits.



8. Task instructions - initial wagering instruction.



9. Task stimuli - indication of trial success.



10. Task stimuli - indication of trial failure.



11. Task stimuli - indication of round success or failure, transition to next round.

Pre-programmed outcome sequence per trial =

No detection (N), detection (D), D, D, N, N, D, N, D, N, N, D, D, D, N, N, N, N, N, N, D, D,

D, N, N, D, D, D, D, D, N, N, N, D, N, D, N, N, D, N, N, D, D, N, N, D, D, N, D.

Post-task perceived control and perceived connection items:

On a scale of 0-100, how much control do you think you had over the submarine's detection?

Of the fifty missions you participated in, how many times do you think the submarine's detection status was the result of your actions?

Appendix G: Study Information Sheet

Dear Participant,

You are invited to participate in a research project investigating the thoughts and behaviours involved in video gaming and gambling.

What is the project about?

This study's purpose is to better understand how thoughts and behaviours encouraged by video games may be related to thoughts and behaviours in gambling.

Who is undertaking the project?

This project is being undertaken by as part of his Honours in Psychology at the University of Adelaide. It is being supervised by by the Human Research Ethics Subcommittee in the School of Psychology, approval number 17/33.

What will I be asked to do?

You will be asked to complete a short survey, then directed to complete a series of tasks via a desktop computer in our laboratory. At the conclusion of the tasks, you will be asked to make a pair of judgements about your performance.

How much time will the study take?

It is estimated that the study will take between 20 and 45 minutes.

If you are a Psychology I student, you will receive 1 credit for your participation through the school's online research participation system. If this credit is not given within the next few working days, please contact via the contact details below. If you are a volunteer from the community you will go into the draw to win a \$50 JB Hi-Fi voucher. Unfortunately, we cannot put you into the draw unless you complete the study.

Are there any risks associated with participating in this project?

There are no anticipated risks or side effects associated with participation in this study. However, you are free to end your participation at any time. You can leave the study by simply communicating with the researcher you are talking to now.

At the beginning of the study, you will be asked to enter in information about your gambling frequency, and any problems that may result from your gambling. Because of this, you will be provided with gambling information and contacts for gambling support service upon exiting the study.

What are the benefits of the research project?

There are unlikely to be any direct benefits to your personal association with the study, except that it will provide you with an opportunity to be involved in psychological research

What will happen to my information?

All data obtained from your participation has been listed under an anonymous ID number, and is completely confidential. No information will be released that can be used to identify you, and will be stored separately from any personal details you may have shared during our contact with you. While the research findings may eventually be published, all data and statistics used will be completely anonymous.

Who do I contact if I have questions about the project?

For any questions about the ethical conduct of the research, please contact Dr. Linley Denson, the Acting Chair of the Human Research Subcommittee in the School of Psychology (Linley.Denson@adelaide.edu.au).

Warm regards,

Before proceeding, ensure that you meet the following participation criteria by ticking all of the boxes that apply to you.

- □ I have not already participated in this study.
- \Box I am aged 18 or above.
- □ I have no visual impairment that significantly reduces my ability to use a computer.
- □ I am not receiving treatment for gambling-related problems.

Appendix H: Study Consent Form



Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC)

CONSENT FORM

1. I have read the attached Information Sheet and agree to take part in the following research project:

Title:	Video games and gambling: cognition and behaviour.	
Ethics Approval Number:	17/33	

- 2. I have had the project, so far as it affects me, fully explained to my satisfaction by the research worker. My consent is given freely.
- 3. Although I understand the purpose of the research project it has also been explained that involvement may not be of any benefit to me.
- 4. I have been informed that, while information gained during the study may be published, I will not be identified and my personal results will not be divulged.
- 5. I understand that I am free to withdraw from the project at any time.
- 6. I am aware that I should keep a copy of this Consent Form, when completed, and the attached Information Sheet.

Participant to complete:

Mama	
Name	

Signature: _____ Date: _____

Email address (for release of findings/information about prize draw) (optional):

Researcher/Witness to complete:

I have described the nature of the research to

(print name of participant)

and in my opinion she/he understood the explanation.

Signature:	Position:	Date:
old lataro.		Duto.

Appendix I: Gambling Debrief

Tips for Safer Gambling

Don't think of gambling as a way to make money.

The bottom line is that gambling establishments like land-based casinos and online gambling sites are set up to take in more money than they pay out. This means that over time, you will lose more money than you win. And, remember it's not just casinos. All forms of gambling have the same principle – the vast majority of people lose so that a very small minority can have big wins. Virtually all people with gambling problems hold the false expectation that they are the ones who will be the big winners. That belief feeds the problem.

Always gambling with money that you can afford to lose.

Gamble with money that you set aside for fun, like going to the movies or going out for drinks. Never use money that you need for important things like rent, bills, tuition, etc.

Never chase losses.

If you lose money, never try to get it back by going over your limit. This usually leads to even bigger losses.

Set a money limit.

Decide how much money you can afford to lose before you play. When you have lost that amount of money, quit. If you win – enjoy, but remember it won't happen most of the time.

Set a time limit.

Decide how much time you can afford to spend gambling. When you reach that time limit, stop gambling.

Don't gamble when you are depressed or upset.

It is hard to make good decisions about gambling when you are feeling down.

Balance gambling with other activities.

It's important to enjoy other activities so that gambling doesn't become too big a part of your life.

Gambling and alcohol are not a good combination.

Gambling under the influence is common, but it generally leads people to make bad decisions that they regret later.

These tips were taken with thanks from: <u>http://www.responsiblegambling.org/safer-play</u>

Where to Get Help

If you (or someone you know) is having problems with their gambling, the Gambling Helpline is available 24 hours, 7 days a week on 1800 060 757. This support is also available online via <u>www.gamblinghelponline.org.au</u>.

For more information, please visit: <u>www.problemgambling.sa.gov.au</u>